ECONOMIC FACTS | SEPTEMBER 2022



Nine Facts about the Service Sector in the United States

Mitchell Barnes, Lauren Bauer, and Wendy Edelberg



ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Moriah Macklin and Luiza Macedo made substantial contributions to this work. We thank Aidan Creeron, Sara Estep, Lucas Fox, Natalie Tomeh, and Marie Wilken for research assistance. The authors are grateful to Brad Hershbein for his helpful comments. Lastly, the authors would like to thank Jeanine Rees for graphic design and Antonn Park for her careful copyedit.

MISSION STATEMENT

The Hamilton Project seeks to advance America's promise of opportunity, prosperity, and growth.

We believe that today's increasingly competitive global economy demands public policy ideas commensurate with the challenges of the 21st Century. The Project's economic strategy reflects a judgment that long-term prosperity is best achieved by fostering economic growth and broad participation in that growth, by enhancing individual economic security, and by embracing a role for effective government in making needed public investments.

Our strategy calls for combining public investment, a secure social safety net, and fiscal discipline. In that framework, the Project puts forward innovative proposals from leading economic thinkers—based on credible evidence and experience, not ideology or doctrine—to introduce new and effective policy options into the national debate.

The Project is named after Alexander Hamilton, the nation's first Treasury Secretary, who laid the foundation for the modern American economy. Hamilton stood for sound fiscal policy, believed that broad-based opportunity for advancement would drive American economic growth, and recognized that "prudent aids and encouragements on the part of government" are necessary to enhance and guide market forces. The guiding principles of the Project remain consistent with these views.





Nine Facts about the Service Sector in the United States

Mitchell Barnes, Lauren Bauer, and Wendy Edelberg The Hamilton Project and Economic Studies, The Brookings Institution

September 2022

Contents

Introduction	1
Facts	3
1. Recovery in the demand for services has lagged behind recent business cycles	
2. Leisure and hospitality, transportation, and health services saw the largest declines in demand	4
3. Small businesses in most industries reported that issues with hiring workers eclipsed other problems	5
4. Separations and hires remain elevated in leisure and hospitality	6
5. The majority of individuals employed in leisure and hospitality in the year before the pandemic were still employed in that sector one year later	7
6. In 2022, the largest wage gains occurred in food services and accommodation	
7. In most occupations, the importance of interpersonal interactions has grown	9
8. The trajectory of inflation differs by sector and location	
9. New leases are driving housing services inflation	11
Technical Appendix	12
References	14

Introduction

Since early 2020, there have been extraordinary disruptions across all sectors of the economy. This set of nine economic facts about the service sector in the United States illustrates recent trends in spending, employment, and inflation as the country continues to rebalance. We find that the effects of the pandemic linger: only in recent months has activity in the service sector recovered to pre-pandemic levels. Nonetheless, activity is still well below where it was expected to be in the absence of the pandemic, and further recovery is expected.

Recent changes in real services and goods spending have been extraordinary (figure A). With the onset of the pandemic, real spending on services shrunk by 20 percent between February and April 2020. Spending partly bounced back in the third quarter, with consumption of services in September just 8 percent below pre-pandemic levels. Since the fourth quarter of 2020, spending on services has grown 1.7 percent each quarter, on average. Nonetheless, a simple extrapolation of the pre-pandemic trend in services spending shows that it is still well below trend. In contrast, spending on consumer goods soared after a brief contraction. Since June 2020, real spending on goods has been well above trend—as high as 15 percent in March 2021, relative to the trend from 2018 to 2019. More recently, spending on goods has decreased-to 6 percent above trend in July 2022-as consumers have rebalanced the composition of spending closer to historical patterns. The combination of rising spending on services, spurred by pent-up demand and strong household finances, and firms facing challenges in increasing hiring has meant upward pressure on wages and prices.

Today, four out of five American workers in the private sector are employed in the service economy, doing everything from delivering care in hospitals and nursing homes to ensuring products make it from ports to store shelves and into consumers' hands. Since 2020, changes in employment in the services and goods sectors (figure B) have moved more similarly than have changes in spending in these sectors. Early in 2020, employment in the services sector fell 17 percent, while employment in the goods sector fell only modestly less, by 12 percent. And employment has only just recovered to pre-pandemic levels in recent months. To be sure, the decline in services employment was far larger than in the goods sector, but that mostly reflected that the service sector has grown to be much larger. Goods sector employment peaked at 25 million in 1979. In that year, service-sector employment was already higher at 49 million; since then, it has grown to be 109 million.

After withstanding a seismic and unprecedented shock in early 2020, spending and employment in the service sector has continued to recover, and further recovery is expected. It took until the spring of 2022 for the service sector to recover to pre-pandemic levels in both real spending and employment. In addition, the onset and aftermath of the COVID-19 pandemic has highlighted disparities in jobs throughout the service sector: some face-to-face service workers faced poor working conditions in jobs with little room for advancement, while other workers in certain professional services were afforded new flexibility, like working remotely. Trends in employment growth may follow; as we show in this fact sheet, employment in leisure and hospitality has lagged other sectors, including professional services.

For decades the service sector has driven the economy, and the recent rebound in the service sector continues to drive economic growth. What role is there for policy in sustaining this growth? The Hamilton Project has published a policy proposal by Dani Rodrik (Harvard University) that lays out how a modern industrial policy framework should create more "good jobs" by improving productivity and labor income growth for service-sector workers (Rodrik 2022). Is there a role for industrial policy to help create a more resilient, productive economy? And can this industrial policy focus not only on manufacturing but also on the service sector and service-sector workers? The proposal argues that the answer to both questions is yes.

This set of economic facts about the service sector in the United States explores how the service-sector recovery has differed from prior business cycles (fact 1 and fact 2); how spending, employment, wages, and the nature of work in different industries within the service sector are changing (fact 3, fact 4, fact 5, fact 6, and fact 7); and the trajectory of inflation (fact 8 and fact 9).

FIGURE A. Personal Consumption Expenditures, 1959–July 2022



Note: Figure shows seasonally adjusted real personal consumption expenditures.

FIGURE B. Employment in Goods and Service Sectors, 1959–August 2022



Source: Bureau of Labor Statistics 2022a; National Bureau of Economic Research n.d. Note: Figure displays seasonally adjusted employment of private-nonfarm workers in goods-producing and serviceproviding industries.



1. Recovery in the demand for services has lagged behind recent business cycles.

The immediate period following a business cycle peak has historically been marked by initial weakness in goods spending, while services spending typically has been little affected. In other words, the recent hallmark of a recession was that consumers delayed purchases of goods, particularly purchases of durable goods. This pattern is evident following the peaks in 1981, 1990, and 2008 as shown in figure 1, although less evident in the 2001 recession.

The composition of spending during the COVID-19 recession has been quite different relative to other periods. In the 14 months leading into the pandemic, annualized growth in real spending was 1.9 percent for services and 4.4 percent for goods, roughly consistent with prior business cycles. In 2020, after brief, sharp declines in both types of spending, goods spending soared while services spending

remained well below its pre-pandemic peak. Goods spending peaked at 20 percent above its pre-pandemic level in March 2021. And, a year-and-a-half into the recovery, real consumption of goods has slowed down. In prior cycles, this is when goods consumption started to pick up.

Pandemic-related health risks significantly dampened demand for face-to-face services, leading to a more than 20 percent decline in real services spending by April 2020. Since early 2021, real spending on services has slowly recovered and, as of July 2022, is above its pre-pandemic level. However, it remains roughly 3 percent below its pre-existing trend; moreover, because of the surge in goods spending, the share of total spending on services is 4 percentage points below its average in the decade before the pandemic.

FIGURE 1. Real Consumption of Goods and Services by Business Cycle



Source: Bureau of Economic Analysis 2022a, 2022b; National Bureau of Economic Research n.d.; authors' calculations. Note: The figure shows the percentage change from the peak month of each business cycle in seasonally adjusted real personal consumption expenditures.



2. Leisure and hospitality, transportation, and health services saw the largest declines in demand.

Service industries were most affected by the pullback in spending in early 2020: consumers interact face-to-face with many businesses in the service sector and health risks limited many of those interactions. What sectors drove the overall decline in real consumption of services during the COVID-19 recession described in fact 1? In April 2020, recreation, food and accommodation, transportation, and health care contributed the most to the initial 20 percent decline in the real consumption of services (figure 2).

Spending on food and accommodation reached its prepandemic level in September 2021, with the recovery being driven by restaurants. Real spending on food services had exceeded pre-pandemic levels by 5 percent by July 2022, the same month that spending on accommodations only first ticked above its pre-pandemic level. Spending on healthcare services has not yet recovered, though it is approaching pre-pandemic levels. While surprising in the midst of a pandemic, many consumers had postponed preventative care and elective procedures.

Spending on recreation and transportation services also reflect early pullbacks in spending on in-person activities, initially falling by nearly 60 percent and 50 percent, respectively. Spending steadily increased in these categories over 2021 but then plateaued in the first half of 2022. In July 2022 real spending on recreation and transportation services were each roughly 10 percent below their pre-pandemic levels.

FIGURE 2. Real Consumption of Select Services by Business Cycle



Source: Bureau of Economic Analysis 2022a, 2022b; National Bureau of Economic Research n.d.; authors' calculations. Note: The figure shows the percentage change from the peak month of each business cycle in seasonally adjusted real personal consumption expenditures. Industries were selected based on the severity of the initial drop in spending in spring 2020.



3. Small businesses in most industries reported that issues with hiring workers eclipsed other problems.

Figure 3 shows significant variation in the kinds of problems small businesses in different sectors have reported in the Census Bureau's Small Business Pulse Survey. Over the past few years, small businesses have reported that they have been affected at times by labor shortages as well as supply chain and logistical issues. However, the inability to hire all the workers they wanted has remained the most commonly reported issue for a majority of sectors through April 2022.

Since August 2021, food service businesses have consistently reported the most difficulties in hiring workers with 50 to 70 percent of businesses saying that it's a problem. In other sectors, including manufacturing and health care, roughly 40 percent reported trouble hiring. A July 2022 survey from the National Federation of Independent Businesses (NFIB) found that about 50 percent of small business owners reported difficulties in filling job openings, roughly 20 percentage points above the historical average (Dunkelberg and Wade 2022). Firms' difficulty hiring workers is likely to slow down the recovery of service-sector businesses, which are relatively labor intensive.

Many small businesses also reported difficulties with the availability of supplies or inputs. This was particularly true for small businesses in manufacturing, construction, and retail, with roughly 50 percent of businesses in each industry reporting trouble with supplies and inputs in the Pulse Survey. In addition, significant shares of manufacturing firms experienced both production delays and delays in delivering products to customers. Inheriting some of those production delays, wholesale distributors also showed issues with delayed deliveries. It does not appear those issues have waned in recent months. The July NFIB report found that roughly 30 percent of businesses reported that supply-chain disruptions had significantly affected their businesses, nearly identical to the national average in the Pulse Survey in April.

FIGURE 3.





Source: Census Bureau 2022.

Note: The reported shares reflect three-week averages spanning March 28–April 17, 2022, the final survey period produced to-date of the Small Business Pulse Survey. For additional details on this analysis, please see the technical appendix.



4. Separations and hires remain elevated in leisure and hospitality.

March and April 2020 saw record-high job separations across all service industries, particularly in leisure and hospitality. This was followed by a hiring spike in May and June of 2020. Since the first few months of the pandemic, separations and hires in most sectors remained higher than but closer to their pre-pandemic levels, with a few notable exceptions: leisure and hospitality, in which separations and hires both remain elevated, manufacturing (elevated hiring) and construction (depressed hiring).

Over the course of the pandemic, employment churn the combination of separations *and* hiring—has been highest in industries that are more likely to require in-person work (Stevenson 2021). In leisure and hospitality, the net result of both high quit rates and high hiring rates has been a significant employment shortfall: employment was still 1.2 million below its pre-pandemic level in August 2022. That is far and away the largest shortfall in any industry. As demand for those services continues to recover, job openings remain significantly elevated. After reaching nearly 2 million in December 2021, leisure and hospitality openings have moderated only slightly, to around 1.5 million openings since April of this year. Other face-to-face industries that have been significantly affected are education (public and private) and health care. In the private sector, the combined industries of education and health care saw a jump in separations in March and April 2020 of more than 5 percentage points over their pre-pandemic separation rates. The rate of hiring in private education and health services has been elevated since the summer of 2021, yet in August 2022, employment in those industries remained just shy of their combined pre-pandemic level and well below prior trend. In addition, as figure 3 shows, employers in the health care and education sectors reported significant difficulty in hiring.

In the government sector, the increase in separations was smaller but much more persistent, lasting through fall of 2020, largely because of drawn-out separations in state and local education employment. The rate of hires for those in government has been noisy but generally elevated since 2021. Nonetheless, in August 2022 employment in the government sector remained nearly 3 percent below its February 2020 level, with roughly half of that shortfall accounted for by local government educational services.

FIGURE 4. Change in Separation and Hire Rates, by Industry



Source: Bureau of Labor Statistics 2022b.

Note: The figure shows monthly percentage point changes in separation and hiring rates relative to February 2020.

The majority of individuals employed in leisure and hospitality in the year before the pandemic were still employed in that sector one year later.

Panel data from the Current Population Survey show that for those employed in leisure and hospitality from March 2018 to February 2019, from March 2019 to February 2020 (the 12 months before the pandemic), or from March 2020 to February 2021, the majority remained employed in that sector in the following year. The survey allows researchers to track some people over 16-month periods. Among those respondents who can be observed over the entire period, 57 percent of those who reported being employed in leisure and hospitality the year before the pandemic remained employed in leisure and hospitality the following year, 24 percent were employed in another industry, 10 percent were unemployed, and 9 percent were no longer in the labor force (shown in middle bar of figure 5).

A comparison of that period shown in the middle bar to other periods is instructive. Relative to the two-year period before the pandemic (the first bar) and the two-year period after its onset (the last bar), the rate that leisure and hospitality workers became unemployed was elevated. However, other trends were remarkably close across periods. Even more surprising, among people who were employed in the second year of the observation period, the share leaving the leisure and hospitality industry are remarkably similar. The consistency is surprising given that the 2020–21 period was marked by increased health risks and other difficulties of working in the leisure and hospitality industry as well as the strong demand among employers in other sectors.

Another survey, of long-tenured displaced workers, shows that through January 2022, labor market outcomes were less positive for those who had been employed in the leisure and hospitality industry at the same employer for three or more years (BLS 2022c). Those long-tenured workers are generally older and have other less typical characteristics in an industry marked by significant churn. Among them, 64 percent were reemployed, 13 percent were unemployed, and 22 percent had left the labor market.

FIGURE 5. Employment Status One Year Later for Individuals Initially Employed in Leisure and Hospitality



Source: Bureau of Labor Statistics n.d.; authors' calculations.

Note: For additional details on this analysis, please see the technical appendix.



6. In 2022, the largest wage gains occurred in leisure and hospitality.

From 2014 to 2019 and in 2020, real wage growth in every industry was, on average, positive. From 2020 to 2021, real wage growth was slightly positive for service-sector workers overall, driven by positive real wage growth in leisure and hospitality, retail, and "other services;" at the same time, it was negative over this period in the goods sector. Extending the period through the most recent data in 2022Q2, real wage growth since 2020 has been negative, on average, for private workers across sectors (purple bars in figure 6). Since mid-2021, rising inflation has undercut the gains in real wages over the first year of the pandemic.

Two industries show positive real wage gains from 2020 to 2022Q2: leisure and hospitality (1.3 percent at an annualized rate) and retail trade (0.6 percent). However, those gains are smaller than in the 2014–19 period: 1.8 percent and 1.6 percent, respectively, for those sectors.

Surprisingly, the patten of real wage gains appears to have only a modest relationship with which industries are having hiring difficulties or which industries have elevated hiring. On the one hand, leisure and hospitality does indeed show that elevated hiring and difficulties in hiring have been associated with higher wages. Perhaps the relatively low level of difficulty in hiring among retail firms is a result of strong wage gains. On the other hand, manufacturers also have elevated hiring and difficulties in hiring, and yet real wage gains have been sharpy negative. In addition, healthcare firms also report difficulties in hiring and show negative real wage gains.

FIGURE 6. Annualized Real Wage Growth by Industry, Comparing COVID Periods to 2014–19



Source: Bureau of Labor Statistics 2022d, 2022e.

Note: The data reflect wage and salary compensation for private workers by industry, deflated using the Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers: All Items in US City Average. All percentage changes are presented as seasonally adjusted annualized rates. For additional details on this analysis, please see the technical appendix.



7. In most occupations, the importance of interpersonal interactions has grown.

O*NET survey data show that over the past 10 years, the prominence of job tasks that include interpersonal interactions has increased for nearly all occupations. These tasks include assisting or caring for others, resolving conflicts and negotiating with others, and training and teaching others. Indeed, prior research has found that, relative to 1980, service and social tasks in jobs associated with soft or noncognitive skills have increased dramatically and critical thinking skills have increased while routine and math tasks have fallen or plateaued (Autor, Levy, and Murnane 2003; Acemoglu and Autor 2011; Deming 2015; Schanzenbach et al. 2016; Atalay et al. 2018; Hershbein and Kahn 2018).

Although the increases in the importance of interpersonal interactions were not limited to occupations generally associated with the service sector, service-sector occupations saw the largest increases. For example, figure 7 shows the two occupations that saw particularly large increases in the importance of such activities were health-care support and food preparation and serving. Increasing importance of interpersonal interactions is likely to continue: Deloitte reports that by 2030, soft skilled-intensive occupations will account for two-thirds of jobs, putting such skills further in demand (Deloitte 2019; Cengage 2019). According to Microsoft's 2021 Work Trends Index, interpersonal interactions increase productivity and lead to more innovation through strategic thinking, collaborating with others, and proposing new ideas (Microsoft 2021).

How will the prominence of interpersonal tasks interact with the increasing prevalence and preference for remote work, spurred by the pandemic? The relationship between home-based work and the importance of interpersonal tasks extends beyond face-to-face interactions, with this relationship varying considerably across occupations (Avdiu and Nayyar 2020). Developing interpersonal relationships with clients, customers, and colleagues may look different in a world in which work tasks demand interpersonal interactions but more service-sector jobs are remote.

FIGURE 7.

Changes in the Importance of Interpersonal Work Interactions, by Occupation (2012 to 2022)



Source: O*NET 2022; Avdiu and Nayyar 2020; authors' calculations. Note: For additional details on this analysis, please see the technical appendix.

8. The trajectory of inflation differs by sector and location.

During the pandemic, shifting consumer demand away from services and towards goods, in combination with ongoing supply constraints, drove a jump in goods inflation in cities throughout the country (Stone 2022). As shown in the second panel of figure 8, the annualized rate of inflation for commodities (goods) spiked between the August 2017–August 2019 and August 2020–August 2022 periods. Across eight select (and generally representative) metropolitan areas, the increases ranged from 7 to 9 percentage points; on average across US cities, the rate rose by more than 8 percentage points, from 1.4 percent to 9.8 percent.

Services inflation also rose on average, but the third panel shows that the increases were smaller than in commodities and showed more variation across places. In fact, services inflation fell in San Francisco and was roughly unchanged in Los Angeles, likely driven by reductions in shelter inflation as shown in the seventh panel. (However, fact 9 suggests that the Consumer Price Index [CPI] inflation measure of shelter is slow to pick up price increases and a pickup in shelter inflation may be on the horizon in cities that have so far seen little inflation in this area.) Six other metropolitan areas saw increases in services inflation ranging from 1.3 percentage points in Seattle to 3.3 percentage points in Miami.

On average across US cities, food services inflation jumped 5.9 percentage points, with prices rising more for food consumed at home than prices at restaurants and other outside businesses. However, the increases varied considerably across cities, from a low of 2.8 percentage points in Miami to 7.4 percentage points in Houston. In recreation, increases in inflation ranged between 0.9 and 8.0 percentage points. Medical services inflation remained stable or declined modestly except in Los Angeles, Philadelphia, and Seattle.

FIGURE 8.

Annualized Inflation Across Cities, August 2020–August 2022 Compared to August 2017–August 2019



Source: Bureau of Labor Statistics 2022e.

Note: The data reflect nonseasonally adjusted price indices for select items for all available metropolitan statistical areas for the month of August in the years 2017, 2019, 2020, and 2022. For additional details on this analysis, please see the technical appendix.



9. New leases are driving housing services inflation.

According to multiple measures of rental prices, inflation in the housing market was depressed at the start of the pandemic but has since risen above pre-pandemic levels (figure 9). Inflation measures from the CPI and the Personal Consumption Expenditures Price Index (PCE), which reflect changes in rent costs for the average tenant, fell from a roughly 3.5 percent annualized rate in 2019 to lows of around 2 percent in mid-2021. However, growth has rebounded since then: as of summer 2022, the 12-month change in both measures exceeded 5 percent. Because leases are typically set for a year, rapid acceleration in rents for new leases affects average rents only as the new leases are incorporated. Thus, changes in CPI and PCE housing inflation generally lag other measures that show price changes only for new leases (Ambrose, Coulson, and Yoshida 2020).

Even for more timely measures capturing new leases, most indices show that the 12-month change in prices of new leases was falling during the first year of the pandemic. New-lease rental prices then skyrocketed in 2021, well before the CPI and PCE measures began to increase. Although these measures have come down somewhat in recent months, they remain well above the CPI and PCE measures. Because housing costs are a large portion of spending on services as measured in both the CPI and the PCE inflation measures, rising rents—and house prices—are already putting significant upward pressure on overall inflation. Of the 8.5 percent annual increase in CPI inflation and the 6.3 percent increase in PCE inflation in July 2022, housing cost inflation contributed roughly 2 percentage points and 1 percentage point, respectively (with differences due to methodology and weighting). The measures shown here suggest that those contributions will become larger over the coming months as more recent new leases are incorporated.

To be sure, not all cities have experienced swings in rental inflation to the same degree. Notably, New York City rental prices fell 22 percent between November 2019 and November 2020, but then surged 33 percent over the 12 months ending December 2021, according to Apartment List. In contrast, Kansas City, MO, rental prices rose 1 percent between November 2019 and November 2020, and increased 9 percent between December 2020 and December 2021.

FIGURE 9.

Comparison of Measures for Annual Change in Rent Prices



Note: For additional details on this analysis, please see the technical appendix.

Technical Appendix

Figure 3. Reported Issues Affecting Small Businesses in Past Week, by Industry (March 28–April 17, 2022)

Reported industry issues reflect data from the final three weeks of the Census Bureau's Small Business Pulse Survey, fielded from March 28–April 17, 2022. Reported shares by industry are averaged across those three weeks to minimize week to week volatility. The results presented in the figure were selected from the below list of survey questions fielded during Phase 8 of the program. We define hiring difficulties as "yes" responses to question 10. Production delays and delays in customer delivery reflect those two answer choices in question 11, where respondents were able to select all issues that applied. Issues with availability of current employees and with availability of supplies are based on those answer choices for question 12.

- Q10. In the last week, did this business have difficulties hiring paid employees?
 - Yes
 - No
 - Not applicable
- Q11. In the last week, did this business have any of the following?
 - Domestic supplier delays
 - Foreign supplier delays
 - Difficulty locating alternative domestic suppliers
 - Difficulty locating alternative foreign suppliers
 - Production delays at this business
 - Delays in delivery/shipping to customers
 - None of the above
- Q12. In the last week, was this business affected by any of the following?
 - Availability of current employees to work
 - Availability of COVID-19 tests for employees
 - Availability of supplies or inputs used to provide goods or services
 - None of the above

Figure 5. Employment Status One Year Later for Individuals Initially Employed in Leisure and Hospitality

Because the CPS surveys the same households for the same four consecutive months in two consecutive years, we are able to identify the sector of employment and employment status transitions over 16 months. We cannot capture employment status changes that may have occurred in the intervening eight months.

We categorize each individual in each year into one of four categories: (1) ever employed in leisure and hospitality, (2) ever employed elsewhere (i.e., never in leisure and hospitality), (3) unemployed and seeking employment, or (4) not in the labor force. If an individual could be in multiple categories, they are assigned in rank order based on the above list.

Year one and year two observations are composed of rolling four-month panels. For example, "Employed 3/2020-2/2021" averages together observations from all the individual four-month panels from March 2020-June 2020 through November 2020-February 2021.

We limit the analysis presented in figure 5 to those individuals who were ever employed in leisure and hospitality in year one. In addition, the analysis is limited to those individuals with a complete eight months of observations and who matched on appropriate age and gender, as the survey samples on address and not person.

Figure 6. Annualized Real Wage Growth by Industry, Comparing COVID Periods to 2014–19

Annualized wage growth is based on the Employment Cost Index published by the Bureau of Labor Statistics. Seasonally-adjusted quarterly values of wages and salaries for private workers in each industry were deflated using the Consumer Price Index (CPI) series for All Urban Consumers: All Items in US City Average. Measures of annualized growth were then calculated using the inflation-adjusted wage index for each industry, to compare the periods: 2014Q1 to 2019Q4, 2020Q1 to 2020Q4, 2020Q1 to 2021Q4, and 2020Q1 to 2022Q2.

Figure 7. Changes in the Importance of Interpersonal Work Interactions, by Occupation (2012–22)

This index was created using the Work Activities Questionnaire from the O*NET database and follows the indexing procedure outlined by Avidu and Nayyar 2020. We expand on their original index to include the following work activities:

- Establishing and Maintaining Interpersonal Relationships, 4.A.4.a.4
- Assisting or Caring for Others, 4.A.2.a.5
- Performing or Working Directly with the Public, 4.A.4.a.8

- Selling or Influencing Others, 4.A.4.a
- Coaching and Developing Others, 4.A.4.b.5
- Communicating with People Outside the Organization, 4.A.4.a.3
- Communicating with Supervisors, Peers and Subordinates, 4.A.4.a.2
- Developing and Building Teams, 4.A.4.b.2
- Guiding, Directing, and Motivating Subordinates, 4.A.4.b.4
- Providing Consultation and Advice to Others, 4.A.4.b.6
- Resolving Conflicts and Negotiating with Others, 4.A.4.a.7
- Training and Teaching Others, 4.A.4.b.3

These components were combined and normalized to create an index ranging from 0 to 1. A higher value means that interpersonal interactions are more important in that job. An increase in the index value from 2012 to 2022 means that the importance of the interpersonal interactions to that job has increased over time.

Figure 8. Annualized Inflation Across Cities: August 2020–August 2022 Compared to August 2017– August 2019

Price indices for select metropolitan statistical areas are based on the Consumer Price Index (CPI) – All Urban Consumers release. Annualized percent changes were taken for each area-item series over the periods August 2017 to August 2019, and August 2020 to August 2022. Metro areas displayed are all those available for selected dates. Data are non-seasonally adjusted.

Figure 9. Comparison of Measures for Annual Change in Rent Prices

Figure depicts the difference in measurement of rental prices between the CPI and PCE inflation reports and those estimated by private rental companies. CPI and the PCE reflect monthly changes in rent by all consumers, including those beginning new lease contracts and those remaining in preexisting leases with fixed prices. The measures produced by private rental companies instead capture asking prices for newly available rentals. Brief descriptions of selected estimates by private firms are listed below:

- **CoreLogic Single Family Rent Index:** estimate applies a repeat pairing methodology to track changing rent for the same properties over time, specifically for single-family rental homes.
- Apartment List National Rent Report: estimate measures median rent across new leases signed in a given month. To control for compositional changes, growth rates are calculated using sameunit analysis to compare only units for which transactions in multiple periods are observed.
- Zillow Observed Rent Index: estimate controls for changes in quality by tracking price changes for the same rental unit over time, aggregating differences across all properties listed on Zillow.
- **Redfin:** estimate reflects current median costs of new leases during each time period for apartments that were available to new renters during the reporting month.
- **Realtor.com:** estimate based on units advertised as for-rent on Realtor.com in the report month, where national estimate is aggregated from averaging the median rents of the 50 largest metropolitan areas.

References

- Acemoglu, Daron and David Autor. 2011. "Skills, Tasks and Technologies: Implications for Employment and Earnings," Handbook of Labor Economics, in: Orley Ashenfelter & David Card (ed.), *Handbook of Labor Economics*, edition 1, volume 4, chapter 12, pages 1043-1171, Elsevier.
- Ambrose, Brent W., N. Edward Coulson, and Jiro Yoshida. 2020. "Housing Rents and Inflation Rates." Center for Research and Education for Policy Evaluation. Discussion Paper No. 43. University of Tokyo.
- Atalay, Enghin, Phai Phongthiengtham, Sebastian Sotelo, and Daniel Tannenbaum. 2018. "New Technologies and the Labor Market," Journal of Monetary Economics 97: 48–67.
- Autor, David, Frank Levy, Richard J. Murnane. 2003. "The Skill Content of Recent Technological Change: An Empirical Exploration," *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, Oxford University Press, vol. 118(4), pages 1279-1333.
- Avdiu, Besart, and Gaurav Nayyar. 2020. "When Face-to-Face Interaction Become an Occupation Hazard: Jobs in the Time of COVID-19." Working Paper 9240, World Bank Group, Washington, DC.
- Bureau of Economic Analysis (BEA). 2022a. "Table 2.4.5U. Personal Consumption Expenditures by Type of Product: Monthly." Bureau of Economic Analysis, Suitland, MD.
- ———. 2022b. "Table 2.4.4U. Price Indexes for Personal Consumption Expenditures by Type of Product: Monthly." Bureau of Economic Analysis, Suitland, MD.
- Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS). 2022a. "Current Employment Statistics." Bureau of Labor Statistics, U.S. Department of Labor, Washington, DC.
- ———. 2022c. "Displaced Worker Summary: 2019-2021." News Release. Bureau of Labor Statistics, U.S. Department of Labor, Washington, DC.
- ———. 2022d. "Employment Cost Index (ECI)." Bureau of Labor Statistics, U.S. Department of Labor, Washington, DC.
- ———. 2022e. "Consumer Price Index (CPI)." Bureau of Labor Statistics, U.S. Department of Labor, Washington, DC.
- ———. n.d. "Current Population Survey." Bureau of Labor Statistics, U.S. Department of Labor, Washington, DC. Retrieved from IPUMS-CPS, University of Minnesota.
- Cengage Group. 2019. "New Survey: Demand for 'Uniquely Human Skills' Increases Even as Technology and Automation Replace Some Jobs." Cengage Group, Boston, MA.

- Census Bureau. 2022. "Small Business Pulse Survey." US Census Bureau, Suitland, MD.
- Deloitte. 2019. "Premium Skills: The Wage Premium Associated with Human Skills." Deloitte Access Economics, Sydney, Australia.
- Deming, David J. 2015. "The Growing Importance of Social Skills in the Labor Market." *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 132 (4) 1593–1640.
- Dunkelberg, William C., and Holly Wade. 2022. "Small Business Economic Trends: July 2022 Report." National Federation of Independent Business, Nashville, TN.
- Flood, Sarah, Miriam King, Renae Rodgers, Steven Ruggles, J. Robert Warren and Michael Westberry. 2021. "Integrated Public Use Microdata Series, Current Population Survey (IPUMS-CPS)." Version 9.0. University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, MN: https://doi.org/10.18128/D030.V9.0
- Hershbein, Brad, and Lisa B. Kahn. 2018. "Do Recessions Accelerate Routine-Biased Technological Change? Evidence from Vacancy Postings." *American Economic Review*, 108 (7): 1737–72.
- Microsoft. 2021. "The Next Great Disruption Is Hybrid Work— Are We Ready?" Microsoft, Redmond, WA.
- National Bureau of Economic Research (NBER). n.d. "US Business Cycle Expansions and Contractions." National Bureau of Economic Research, Cambridge, MA
- Occupational Information Network (O*NET). 2022. "O*NET Database Releases Archive." O*NET Resource Center, National Center for O*NET Development, www.onetcenter. org/db_releases.html
- Rodrik, Dani. 2022. "An Industrial Policy for Good Jobs." The Hamilton Project, Brookings Institution, Washington, DC.
- Schanzenbach, Diane W., Ryan Nunn, Lauren Bauer, Megan Mumford, and Audrey Breitwieser. 2016. "Seven Facts on Noncognitive Skills from Education to the Labor Market." The Hamilton Project, Brookings Institution, Washington, DC.
- Stevenson, Betsey. 2021. "Women, Work, and Families: Recovering from the Pandemic-Induced Recession." The Hamilton Project, Brookings Institution, Washington, DC.
- Stone, Chad. 2022. "Inflation Misperceptions Cloud Policy Debate." Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, Washington, DC.

Related Hamilton Project Papers

POLICY PROPOSALS

An Industrial Policy for Good Jobs Dani Rodrik

For decades the service sector has driven the economy in the United States. Is there a role for industrial policy in sustaining this growth? This proposal explains how a modern industrial policy framework would create more "good jobs" by improving productivity and labor income growth for service-sector workers. Rodrik proposes that development and business assistance programs align with a new, more-flexible, and contextual model of industrial policy that is better suited to the challenge of creating good jobs in the service sector. The federal initiative is ARPA-Workers, which would promote early-stage investments in digital and other technologies that enhance prevailing worker skills and create good jobs.

POLICY BOOKS

Recession Remedies

Edited by Wendy Edelberg, Louise Sheiner, and David Wessel

In the United States, COVID-19 triggered a sharp economic downturn. Yet, the ensuing economic recovery was faster and stronger than nearly any forecaster anticipated due in part to the swift, aggressive, and creative fiscal and monetary policy response in the U.S. While the next recession most likely won't be triggered by a pandemic, the response can be informed by lessons learned from the COVID-19 recession.

Revitalizing Wage Growth

Edited by Ryan Nunn and Jay Shambaugh

One simple question—are wages rising?—is as central to the health of our democracy as it is to the health of our economy. This book presents evidence and analysis that detail why wages have been stagnant for so many workers, while also identifying public policies that could effectively contribute to the growth in productivity and wages that are core parts of improving living standards for all Americans. These proposals include greater support for policies that increase human capital, boost worker mobility, strengthen worker bargaining power, and sustain robust labor demand.

FRAMING PAPER

The Slowdown in Productivity Growth and Policies That Can Restore It

Emily Moss, Ryan Nunn, and Jay Shambaugh

Improving labor productivity is important to sustain economic output and power long-run growth—yet productivity growth has generally declined over the past half century. The Hamilton Project considers explanations for the slowdown in productivity growth as well as the public policies that can help restore it.

FACTS DOCUMENTS

11 Facts on the Economic Recovery from the COVID-19 Pandemic

Mitchell Barnes, Lauren Bauer, and Wendy Edelberg

In these Economic Facts, the Hamilton Project reviews recent economic data to provide context for assessing the state of the economic recovery. With the ongoing effects of fiscal support, pent-up demand from consumers for face-to-face services, tightness in labor markets, and rising asset prices, this set of facts highlights the extent of the recovery and areas that remain short of a return to normal.

Ten Facts about COVID-19 and the US Economy

Lauren Bauer, Kristen Broady, Wendy Edelberg, and Jimmy O'Donnell

The onset of the COVID-19 pandemic has presented the United States with a set of unique public health and economic challenges. Economically, the crisis has negatively affected businesses, the labor market, and households. This set of 10 facts assesses the extent of these economic damages and provide an overview of existing policy interventions.



ADVISORY COUNCIL

ROBERT GREENSTEIN Visiting Fellow, The Hamilton Project, Economic Studies, The Brookings Institution; Founder and President, Center on Budget and Policy Priorities

MICHAEL GREENSTONE Milton Friedman Professor in Economics and the College, Director of the Becker Friedman Institute for Research in Economics, and Director of the Energy Policy Institute, University of Chicago

GLENN H. HUTCHINS Chairman, North Island and North Island Ventures

LAWRENCE F. KATZ Elisabeth Allison Professor of Economics, Harvard University

MELISSA S. KEARNEY Neil Moskowitz Professor of Economics, University of Maryland; Director, Aspen Economic Strategy Group; Nonresident Senior Fellow, The Brookings Institution

LILI LYNTON Founding Partner, Boulud Restaurant Group

HOWARD S. MARKS Co-Chairman, <u>Oaktree Capital Management, L.P.</u>

KRISTON MCINTOSH Managing Director, Hamilton Place Strategies

ERIC MINDICH Founder, Everblue Management

DAMBISA MOYO Co-Principal, Versaca Investments

SUZANNE NORA JOHNSON Former Vice Chairman, Goldman Sachs Group, Inc.; Co-Chair, The Brookings Institution

PETER ORSZAG CEO, Financial Advisory Lazard Freres & Co LLC

RICHARD PERRY Managing Partner & Chief Executive Officer, Perry Capital

PENNY PRITZKER Chairman and Founder, PSP Partners; 38th Secretary of Commerce

MEEGHAN PRUNTY Principal, PE Strategic Partners

ROBERT D. REISCHAUER Distinguished Institute Fellow and President Emeritus, Urban Institute NANCY L. ROSE Charles P. Kindleberger Professor of Applied Economics, Massachusetts Institute of Technology

DAVID M. RUBENSTEIN Co-Founder and Co-Chairman The Carlyle Group

ROBERT E. RUBIN Former U.S. Treasury Secretary; Co-Chair Emeritus, Council on Foreign Relations

LESLIE B. SAMUELS Senior Counsel, Cleary Gottlieb Steen and Hamilton LLP

SHERYL SANDBERG Chief Operating Officer, Facebook

DIANE WHITMORE SCHANZENBACH Margaret Walker Alexander Professor and Director, The Institute for Policy Research, Northwestern University; Nonresident Senior Fellow, The Brookings Institution

STEPHEN SCHERR Chief Executive Officer, Goldman Sachs Bank USA

RALPH L. SCHLOSSTEIN Chairman Emeritus, Evercore

ERIC SCHMIDT Co-Founder, Schmidt Futures; Former CEO and Chairman, Google

ERIC SCHWARTZ Chairman and CEO, 76 West Holdings

THOMAS F. STEYER Business Leader and Philanthropist; Founder, NextGen America

MICHAEL R. STRAIN Director of Economic Policy Studies and Arthur F. Burns Scholar in Political Economy, American Enterprise Institute

LAWRENCE H. SUMMERS Charles W. Eliot University Professor, Harvard University

ALLEN THORPE Partner, Hellman & Friedma

LAURA D'ANDREA TYSON Distinguished Professor of the Graduate School, University of California, Berkeley

DAVID WEIL Co-President, Charles and Lynn Schusterman Family Philanthropies

WENDY EDELBERG Director

STEPHANIE AARONSON Vice President and Director, Economic Studies; Senior Fellow, Economic Studies, The Brookings Institution

GEORGE A. AKERLOF University Professor, Georgetown University

ROGER C. ALTMAN Founder and Senior Chairman, Evercore

KAREN L. ANDERSON Senior Director of Policy & Communications Becker Friedman Institute for Research in Economics, The University of Chicago

ALAN S. BLINDER Gordon S. Rentschler Memorial Professor of Economics and Public Affairs, Princeton University; Nonresident Senior Fellow, The Brookings Institution

STEVEN A. DENNING Chairman, General Atlantic

JOHN M. DEUTCH Institute Professor, Massachusetts Institute of Technology

CHRISTOPHER EDLEY, JR. Co-Founder and President Emeritus, The Opportunity Institute

BLAIR W. EFFRON Partner, Centerview Partners LLC

DOUGLAS W. ELMENDORF Dean and Don K. Price Professor of Public Policy, Harvard Kennedy School

JUDY FEDER Professor and Former Dean, McCourt School of Public Policy, Georgetown University

JASON FURMAN Aetna Professor of the Practice of Economic Policy, Harvard University; Senior Fellow, Peterson Institute for International Economics; Senior Counselor, The Hamilton Project

MARK T. GALLOGLY Cofounder, Three Cairns Group.

TED GAYER President, Niskanen Center

TIMOTHY F. GEITHNER President, Warburg Pincus; Senior Counselor, The Hamilton Project For decades the service sector has driven the economy in the United States. The COVID-19 economic disruption notably impacted the service sector: its businesses, its workers, and its customers. The recent rebound in the service sector—tracked by indicators like employment and consumer spending—continues to drive economic growth. Yet the effects of the pandemic linger: only in recent months has activity in the service sector recovered to pre-pandemic levels and is still well below where it was expected to be in the absence of the pandemic. In these Economic Facts, the Hamilton Project takes stock of the service sector, exploring how the service-sector recovery has differed from prior business cycles, how spending, employment, wages, and the nature of work in different industries within the service sector are changing, and the trajectory of inflation.

Annualized Real Wage Growth by Industry, Comparing COVID Periods to 2014–19



Source: Bureau of Labor Statistics 2022d, 2022e.

Note: The data reflect wage and salary compensation for private workers by industry, deflated using the Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers: All Items in US City Average. All percentage changes are presented as seasonally adjusted annualized rates. For additional details on this analysis, please see the technical appendix.





1775 Massachusetts Ave., NW Washington, DC 20036

(202) 797-6484

WWW.HAMILTONPROJECT.ORG